
 
 

Agenda 
 

Extraordinary Policy and Resources Committee Meeting 
 
Date: Wednesday, 17 December 2025 
Time 7.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT 
 
Membership: 
 
Councillors:  To be confirmed following Council on Wednesday 10 December 2025. 
 
Quorum = 5 

 
  Pages 

Recording and Privacy Notice 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in 
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording 
being published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.   Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

and procedures are advised that:  

(a) The fire alarm is a continuous loud ringing. In the event that a fire 
drill is planned during the meeting, the Chair will advise of this. 

(b) Exit routes from the chamber are located on each side of the room, 
one directly to a fire escape, the other to the stairs opposite the 
lifts. 

(c) In the event of the alarm sounding, leave the building via the 
nearest safe exit and gather at the assembly point on the far side of 
the car park. Do not leave the assembly point or re-enter the 
building until advised to do so. Do not use the lifts.  

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

(d) Anyone unable to use the stairs should make themselves known 
during this agenda item. 

 
2.   Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to 

declare in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an 

item must leave the room for that item and may not participate in the 

debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this 

and leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting. 

 

 

4.   Appropriation of Cockleshell Walk, Sittingbourne 
 

5 - 24 

5.   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
To decide whether to pass the resolution set out below in respect of the 
following item: That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 5. 
  
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
5.  Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 

 

6.   Appendix II - Appropriation of Cockleshell Walk, Sittingbourne 
 

25 - 82 

Issued on Tuesday, 9 December 2025 
 
The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in 
alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to arrange for 
special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please contact 
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk. To find out more about the work of this 
meeting, please visit www.swale.gov.uk.  
 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
http://www.swale.gov.uk/


1 

 

Policy & Resource Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date Wednesday 17th December 2025 

Report Title Cockleshell Walk, St Michael's Road, Sittingbourne, ME10 
1AU: Appropriation of Land for Planning Purposes 

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and 
Neighbourhoods 

Head of Service Charlotte Hudson, Head of Housing and Communities 

Lead Officer Charlotte Hudson, Head of Housing and Communities 

Classification Open / Restricted Appendix II 

Recommendations 1. Confirm that the Land (as defined in paragraph 1.1 
below) is no longer required for those purposes for 
which it is held (surface level car park);  

2. Approve the appropriation of the Land for planning 
purposes to facilitate its development pursuant to 
section 122(1) of the Local Government Act 1972; 

3. Approve the Council relying on powers under 
section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
to override any third party rights interfered with by 
development of the Land;  

4. Delegate authority to the Director of Regeneration 
and Neighbourhoods to take all necessary steps to 
affect the appropriation of the Land for planning 
purposes in accordance with section 122(1) of the 
Local Government Act 1972; 

5. Delegate to the Director of Regeneration and 
Neighbourhoods the authority to appoint external 
consultants to assess and agree any compensation 
and claims arising from the development of the 
Land; 

6. Delegate authority to the Director of Regeneration 
and Neighbourhoods and the Director of Resources, 
to agree the terms of and enter into any 
documentation required to settle any property and 
compensation matters necessary to progress the 
development of the Land. 

 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report seeks authorisation for Officers to proceed with the appropriation of 

land for planning purposes under section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 
to facilitate the development of the land at Cockleshell Walk, St Michael's Road, 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



2 

 

Sittingbourne, ME10 1AU ("the Land") the boundaries of which are shown [in 
red on the plan at Appendix 1]. 

1.2 The report also seeks: 

a. authorisation for Officers to proceed with overriding the third party rights 
which are interfered with by the development of the Land under section 
203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016.  

b. approval of this report's recommendations to help facilitate the 
development comprising of the erection of three buildings to provide 51 
residential dwellings (Class C3) and hard and soft landscaping, cycle and 
car parking and associated works (the "Development"). 

1.3 The decisions sought in this report are to enable the delivery of 51 residential 
dwellings (Class C3) and hard and soft landscaping, cycle and car parking and 
associated works (the Development) on Council-owned land currently occupied 
by a surface level car park.  

1.4 The Development will secure a number of public benefits, including: 

a. Increasing the supply of affordable housing, for which there is an acute 
need;  

b. Providing local economic investment, including job and training 
opportunities; 

c. Delivering a 117.81% biodiversity net gain (exceeding the 10% baseline 
requirement); 

d. Providing cycle parking and two separate secure stores compromising 51 
cycle parking spaces in line with Swale Borough Council parking 
standards;  

e. Providing 28 car parking spaces all with EV charging points; 

f. Improving housing stock; and  

g. Improving public realm. 

1.5 It is therefore considered that the Development would contribute towards the 
promotion and improvement of the economic, social and environmental well-
being of the borough. 

1.6 An appropriation of the Land is required to mitigate against the proposed 
Development being frustrated or delayed by legal injunction and to ensure the 
delivery of the scheme.  

2. Background 

 
2.1 The Land is located within Sittingbourne Town Centre and extends to 0.36 ha. It 

currently comprises almost entirely of an in-use surface level car park with 
narrow land strips to the north-west and south forming pedestrian routes from 
the car park towards a neighbouring housing area. The Land is not located in a 
conservation area and does not comprise of any statutory or locally listed 
buildings. The Council is the freehold owner of the Land. 

Page 4



3 

 

2.2 The Land previously formed part of the Spirit of Sittingbourne scheme which 
was a scheme to regenerate the town centre. As part of this scheme, a number 
of car parks within the town centre (including the Land) were identified as being 
suitable for development. The scheme sought consent for the construction of a 
multi storey cark park to enable the closure and redevelopment of these 
identified car parks. Planning permission for that scheme was obtained, and 
appropriation of the Land was authorised on 11 October 2012 by the Director of 
Regeneration.  Whilst there has been a previous appropriation of the Land in 
question, the Land continued to be used a car park and the Land was not 
developed pursuant to the Spirit of Sittingbourne Scheme.  Consequently, a new 
appropriation of the Land is being sought pursuant to this report notwithstanding 
that the Land has been previously appropriated.    

2.3 Please also note the following relevant planning history:  

a. Planning permission (reference 14/505440/FULL) granted on 24 May 2017  
in respect of the development of the Land which authorised the “Proposed 
mixed use development - on six parcels of land - of 212 residential 
apartments (use class C3), 3158 sq m of retail space (use class A1), A 308 
space multi storey car park, 1713 sq.m cinema (use class D2), 2320 sq.m 
ground floor restaurant units (use class A3), first floor D2 use and the re-
alignment of St Michael's road with amendments to the road network and 
the creation of a new public square in Sittingbourne Town Centre, in front 
of the railway station (the 2017 Permission);  

b. Planning permission dated 18 March 2025 allocated reference 
23/503228/FULL for the erection of three buildings to provide 51 no. 
residential dwellings (Class C3) and hard and soft landscaping, cycle and 
car parking and associated works (the Planning Permission). 

2.4 The 2017 Permission relates to land beyond the Land. While the 2017 
Permission is extant and the commercial elements of the 2017 Permission have 
been built out, development on the Land has not yet been brought forward. The 
Land therefore remains in-use as a surface level car park. The intention is for 
the Land to instead be developed pursuant to the Planning Permission, which 
facilitates the Development.  

2.5 The Council has already chosen its development partner following a competitive 
tender process to bring forward the Development pursuant to the Planning 
Permission and are in negotiations with the development partner to finalise the 
underlying contracts.  

2.6 The current proposal is broadly consistent with the previous scheme, and the 
arguments advanced and accepted in support of the earlier appropriation remain 
applicable. (This is set out in Background Paper Cabinet report 6 June 2012 and 
Director of Regeneration Delegation report 11 October 2012). 

2.7 Further detail of the scheme and its benefits are explained below. 

3. Proposals 

3.1 The Land is held and used for car parking purposes.  

Page 5



4 

 

3.2 Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides a power to the Council 
to appropriate land from one purpose to another. This purpose can be any 
purpose for which the Council is authorised to acquire land by agreement. The 
Council must consider whether the land is no longer needed in the public 
interest of the locality for the purpose for which it is held. The Council should not 
make the appropriation unless it considers that interference with rights are 
necessary.  

3.3 Without the exercise of the Council’s appropriation powers, parties who are 
affected by the diminution of their rights to light or any other rights have the 
potential ability to bring injunctive proceedings to prevent the development. This 
could potentially halt the project and could result in a delay to the delivery of the 
development.  

3.4 Once the Land is appropriated for planning purposes, the Council will be able to 
exercise powers under section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to 
interfere with existing rights annexed to adjoining land that may adversely affect 
the Land. Section 203 does not extinguish adjoining owners’ rights but allows a 
specific development to proceed in accordance with the grant of planning 
permission. The statutory objective of section 203 is that, provided that the 
development is undertaken in accordance with a planning permission and 
subject to other criteria being satisfied, a local authority should be permitted to 
develop its land in the manner in which it, acting bona fide, considers will serve 
the public interest and to that end it is recognised that a local authority should be 
permitted to interfere with third part rights.     

3.5 There are four requirements that must be fulfilled in order for section 203 to be 
exercised are:  

a. the site must be acquired or appropriated by a local authority for planning 
purposes;  

b. there is planning consent for the building or maintenance work or use;  

c. a local authority could (if not already the owner) acquire the site 
compulsorily for the purposes of carrying out works (including construction 
and maintenance works), or for the use of the land permitted by the 
relevant planning consent; and 

d. the work or use in question relates to the purposes for which the land was 
appropriated.  

3.6 The effect of section 203 is to enable the development to proceed and 
authorises the interference of those rights. Third parties whose rights are 
infringed are entitled to compensation for any interference with a relevant right 
or interest or breach of a restriction that is authorised by section 203. This is 
addressed in section 204.  

3.7 Section 204(2) confirms that compensation should be calculated on the same 
basis as compensation payable under section 7 and 10 of the Compulsory 
Purchase Act 1965. The amount of compensation payable is the diminution in 
the value of the affected interest. Any dispute about compensation payable may 
be referred or determined by the Upper Tribunal.  

Page 6



5 

 

3.8 The Council has commissioned a Rights of Light Analysis Report ("the RoL 
Report") (Exempt Appendix [2]) to assess the potential effects of the 
Development on the rights of light of the surrounding buildings. The RoL Report 
does reveal some properties neighbouring the Land which may have rights of 
light over the Land which could be infringed by the proposed Development. The 
risk of injunction means that the Council should consider the use of its statutory 
powers to ensure that the development proceeds. 

3.9 As a result of the above, authority is sought to authorise the Director of 
Regeneration and Neighbourhoods to appropriate for planning purposes under 
section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 and authority to settle any 
compensation claims arising from the appropriation. 

 
3.10 WHY THE LAND IS NO LONGER NEEDED TO ITS CURRENT PURPOSES 

3.10.1 To appropriate the Land, it must be considered to be "no longer 
required for the purpose for which it is held immediately before the 
appropriation".   

3.10.2 The existing surface level car park represents an ineffective use of 
the Land and its current form makes a negative contribution to the 
character of the surrounding area. 

3.10.3 The Council acknowledges the poor quality of the existing Land in its 
Local Plan identifying the surface level car park and exposed backs of 
properties as features that “undermine the setting of Cockleshell 
Walk…and produce an unattractive gateway to the town centre." 

3.10.4 The proposal provides an opportunity to develop the Land by 
optimising its use for residential development.  

3.10.5 That the car parking facilities at Cockleshell Walk would be developed 
to provide housing is set out in the Local Plan which notes that "Once 
the new town centre car parking facilities have been secured, the 
redevelopment of car parks here will be able to provide 150 
dwellings". The new car parking facilities have now been delivered via 
the construction of the 308-space multi-storey car park (planning 
reference 14/505440/FULL). This new car park has addressed local 
parking needs such that other car parks in the area, such as the 
Land, which had been identified for redevelopment are no longer 
required for their original purpose.  

 
3.11 THE DEVELOPMENT AND ITS PUBLIC BENEFITS  

3.11.1 The Development 

3.11.2 The Land is within an area identified by the Local Plan as requiring 
regeneration. In particular the Local Plan notes "The western end of 
the High Street is an unremarkable collection of uses, surface car 
parking and exposed backs of properties which undermine the setting 
of Cockleshell Walk and Trinity Church and produce an unattractive 
gateway to the town centre". 

Page 7



6 

 

3.11.3 The Development comprises the erection of three buildings to provide 
51 residential dwellings (Class C3) and hard and soft landscaping, 
cycle and car parking and associated works. 

3.11.4 The Development will provide a significant contribution to the 
Borough's annualised housing delivery target of 776 units across the 
Borough. The Development will also provide for 10% of the Dwellings 
to be affordable housing.. 

3.11.5 The Development has been designed following extensive site 
analysis, taking into account the character and rich built heritage of 
the surrounding area as strategic ambitions for Sittingbourne set out 
in the Local Plan.  

3.11.6 The new homes are designed to enhance the quality of housing, the 
layout and relationship of the Land to its context. This has been 
achieved through the introduction of a setback elements on the top 
floor levels which enable the proposals to sit more comfortably with 
the existing prevailing building heights in this part of the town centre. 
The roofline has been improved to form a more congruent 
streetscape along Cockleshell Walk. 

3.11.7 The design has also been informed by informal engagement with 
Council planning and urban design officers and public engagement 
via a local letter-drop campaign inviting comments. 

3.11.8 The material palette and architectural language and detailing of the 
proposals have been chosen to reflect the distinctive character of 
Sittingbourne. The brick type and pattern is informed by the area’s 
brick manufacturing heritage, and have used the architectural 
features of surrounding notable buildings as inspiration for the 
detailing of the proposals. Features such as the recessed window 
surrounds, herringbone patterned panels and arches have been 
identified as architectural motifs typical of the surrounding area and 
have been introduced to the proposals ensure that the proposals are 
in keeping with the character of their surroundings. 

3.11.9 Site landscaping has been significantly increased in quantum and 
quality and proposed landscape design has been carefully selected to 
enhance the quality of St. Michael’s Road. The proposed planting will 
provide year-round interest as well as improving the ecology and 
biodiversity value of the Land.  

3.11.10 The Development will provide a Biodiversity Net Gain of 117.81%, 
exceeding the 10% net gain that is required by legislation. The 
proposal will also employ a range of energy reduction techniques to 
achieve a sustainable and efficiently design scheme, including high 
performance building fabric, double glazing and energy efficient 
lighting, services and use of mechanical supply and extract ventilation 
systems with heat recovery (MVHR) in the residential units. 

3.11.11 The Development will also secure 28 car parking spaces to serve the 
new homes, and 52 cycle parking via two secure stores.  

Page 8



7 

 

3.11.12 The table below detail the new homes to be provided:  

 
Table 1 – Schedule of accommodation for new scheme 

Size Number of units Percentage of overall 
mix 

1-bed 2-person  16  31%  

2-bed 3-person  2  4%  

2-bed 4-person  29  57%  

3-bed 6-person  4  8%  

Total 51  100%  

  

3.11.13 Public benefits 

3.11.14 A summary of the benefits of the scheme is as follows. 

3.11.15 Social benefits: The residential proposals comprise the provision of 
high-quality residential housing all of which will be affordable housing 
which will help meet local housing needs. The proposals will also 
introduce new residents to the area and expand the local community. 
The provision of a range of dwelling sizes will meet the needs of 
different occupiers and will assist in creating a strong and balanced 
community.  

3.11.16 Economic benefits: In summary, the Development will also 
contribute to economic growth during the construction period. The 
construction of new development creates a range of employment 
opportunities within the local and wider economy and has been 
acknowledged by the Government as a key driver for boosting 
housing delivery as required by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Constructing the Development will support jobs 
directly on site as well as indirect support to additional jobs in the 
supply chain. The proposals will also contribute to the economic role 
of sustainable development by delivering land to improve choice and 
competition in the residential marketplace. The procurement process 
will seek to secure employment and training opportunities are 
targeted at local people to ensure residents of the borough have the 
chance to benefit from the employment the scheme will deliver. 

3.11.17 Environmental benefits: In summary, the Development will remove 
the existing extensive hard surfacing and under-utilised land around 
the Land and will provide new buildings of high-quality design that will 
improve the contribution of the Land to the local area. The proposals 
include improvements to the public realm, improving the local 
environment for residents. The proposals seek to introduce soft 
landscaping areas and green spaces which will deliver ecological and 
environmental benefits both on the Land and to the surrounding area. 

Page 9



8 

 

New homes will be built to modern standards which will reduce 
negative environmental impacts. 

 

4. Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 

4.1 Do nothing option: if the Council decides not to appropriate the Land, then there 
is the potential that affected interest holders could bring injunction proceedings. 
This could stop the project coming forward or significantly delay the delivery of 
the Development, threatening the delivery of new affordable homes and other 
public benefits such as those outlined at paragraph 3.3. 

5. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

5.1 The Council undertook three rounds of consultation in respect of the Planning 
Permission, which included letters being sent to neighbouring occupiers and 
notices displayed on the Land and within a local newspaper. 

 

6. Implications 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan This supports the Health and Housing Corporate priority, to ensure 
that everyone has access to decent housing.  

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

This report is seeking approval to proceed with the appropriation of 
land for planning purposes under section 122 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to facilitate the development of the Land 
There are no direct financial implications from the appropriation 
itself, however, residents and businesses affected adversely by 
rights of light both within the redevelopment area and neighbouring 
it those with rights will be able to claim compensation resulting 
from the reduced value of their property. These costs have been 
built into the overall scheme costs. 

 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

Under section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 (LGA), 
appropriation may be made where the land is no longer needed in the 
public interest of the locality for the purpose for which it is held 
immediately before appropriation. In this regard, a broad view of local 
need (taking account of the interests of all residents in the locality), has 
to be taken and officers consider that this test has been met. Officers are 
also satisfied that the use of appropriation would be in the public interest 
and proportionate to the objectives of the redevelopment scheme for the 
purpose of the Human Rights Act 1998.    

 
This report seeks approval from the Policy and Resources Committee to 
appropriate, under section 122 of the LGA, land belonging to the Council 
which is currently held for use as a car park. The Land is now required 
for planning purposes for redevelopment which consists of affordable 
units.  

 

Page 10



9 

 

Any reference to appropriation for planning purposes is, by virtue of the 
provisions in section 246 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(TCPA), regarded as a reference to appropriation for the purposes for 
which land can compulsorily be acquired under section 226 TCPA. 
By virtue of s226(1A) TCPA a local authority must not exercise the power 
granted under s226(1)(a) unless the development, redevelopment or 
improvement on or in relation to the land is likely, they think, to contribute 
to the achievement, the promotion or improvement of any one of more of 
the following objectives - the economic, the social and/or the 
environmental wellbeing of the area. This report details that the proposed 
development will provide 51 new residential dwellings.  

 
The Council must also be satisfied that the Land is no longer required for 
the statutory purposes for which it was originally held before the 
appropriation. This “surplus to requirements” component of s122 of the 
LGA enables the Council to prioritise relative needs. It follows that the 
Council is entitled to look at the current use of the Land as well as the 
prospective use of the Land and on this project, what the Land can 
deliver. The Council can consider matters such as whether sufficient use 
is currently made of the Land and the need to secure an enhanced form 
of redevelopment.  

 
Appropriation however requires more than a mere decision to hold land 
for a different purpose.  An authority cannot properly appropriate land to 
planning purposes unless it considers that the resulting interference with 
third party rights is necessary. A local authority cannot properly 
appropriate land to planning purposes unless it considers that it has good 
reason to interfere with third party rights which would be overridden by 
section 203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 as outlined below.  
Reliance on s203 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to override the 
rights of adjoining owners and any other property rights on an 
appropriation of land for planning purposes is dependent upon the 
requirements in s226 TCPA, having been satisfied that is there is a 
compelling case in the public interest for the appropriation of this land, 
having regard to the European Convention on Human Rights must apply 
before the redevelopment of the Land commences. 

 
The enabling provisions in s203 (1) and (4) of the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016 are required for the construction, maintenance and use of the 
redevelopment, to the extent that this will interfere with private rights of 
adjoining owners. The RoL Report concludes that due to the proposed 
development neighbouring buildings may experience interference with 
their private rights (see Appendix [2]). The operative provisions in section 
203-207 are necessary in order to override these rights as well as to 
override other property rights, including any unknown rights that may 
impede the construction or use of the units on the Land.  
In order to ensure that the redevelopment can proceed within the agreed 
timescale and cost it is necessary for the Council to appropriate the site 
for planning purposes. This will not preclude negotiations with the 
adjoining owners who will be entitled to compensation in line with the 
relevant statutory provisions. 

 

Page 11



10 

 

If the Council were to commence the development works without 
appropriating the site for planning purposes, it would potentially be 
infringing those affected rights to light or any other rights. The remedy for 
such an infringement by the affected persons is an injunction. It is an 
equitable remedy and is within the court’s discretion to grant. The court 
can award damages where it considers this an adequate remedy. If the 
adjoining owners choose to institute proceedings for an actionable injury 
the court might also grant an injunction pending the court’s decision on 
whether there has been an infringement of their rights or not. The 
consequences of this for the Council will be to set back commencement 
of the development and delivery.  

 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None identified at this stage.  

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

The report has outlined that due to the change of use of the land 
and associated landscape works there will be additional Bio-
Diversity net gain.  

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Overall improved housing has a positive impact on health and 
wellbeing of those residents.  

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

None identified at this stage.  

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified at this stage.  

Equality and 
Diversity 

The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 
to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster 
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality 
Act 2010). The Council must also have regard to potential 
interference with Article 1 and Article 8 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR).   
 

Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR) provides that every natural or legal person 
is entitled to peaceful enjoyment of their possessions (“human 
rights”). Appropriation of property engages s.203 to authorise 
interference with rights of light involves interference with a person's 
rights under this Article. As these rights are enjoyed by corporate 
bodies as well as individuals all of those whose rights will be 
affected can claim an infringement. However, the right to peaceful 
enjoyment of possessions provided under this Article is a qualified 
rather than absolute right, as the wording of Article 1 of Protocol 1 
permits the deprivation of an individual’s possessions where it is in 

Page 12



11 

 

the public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law 
and by the general principles of international law.  
 

Article 8(1) provides that everyone has the right to respect for his 
private and family life, his home and his correspondence. Article 8 
would be engaged as a result of interference with rights to light or 
other rights connected to a private residence. Article 8(2) allows for 
interference which is “in accordance with the law and is necessary 
in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public 
safety or the economic well-being of the country, for the protection 
of health and morals, or for the protection of the rights and 
freedoms of others”.  
 

There must therefore be a balancing exercise between the public 
interest and the individual's rights whereby any interference in the 
individual's rights must be necessary and proportionate.  
"Proportionate" in this context means that the interference must be 
no more than is necessary to achieve the identified legitimate aim, 
thereby striking a "fair balance" between the rights of the individual 
and the rights of the public.  
 

Planning permission has been granted for the development of the 
Land and on the basis that it accorded with national and local 
planning policies.  The public benefits arising from the 
Development, and thus the public interest, are set out earlier in this 
report. Furthermore, notwithstanding the overriding of their ‘rights 
to light or any other right' compensation will still be available to 
those who are affected. On this basis it is considered that the 
public interest in and benefits arising from the development of the 
Land outweighs the rights of the individuals to peaceful enjoyment 
of their possessions and to their homes and that the proposed use 
of s.203 powers results in a proportionate infringement. 

 

The Council has considered the equality impacts of the 
appropriation of the Land.  An EIA has been completed and is 
shown in Appendix II.  The proposed Development of the Land is 
considered overall to have a positive equality impact, through the 
delivery of new housing including affordable housing. Whilst the 
appropriation of the Land would likely result in interference with 
rights over the Land, compensation will be payable to those who 
are affected, and it is not considered that such interference would 
undermine the public sector equality duty 

 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

Non identified at this stage.  

 

Page 13



12 

 

7. Appendices 

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

• Appendix I: Appropriation Plan 

• Appendix II: Rights of Light Analysis Report – EXEMPT 

• Appendix III: Equalities Impact Assessment  
 

 

8. Background Papers 

Sittingbourne Town Centre Progress Cabinet Report - 6 June 2012 and  

Spirit of Sittingbourne Development Agreement – Appropriation of Land for 
Planning Purposes - Director of Regeneration Delegation report 11 October 
2012 

Page 14



10.88

1
0
.5
7

1
2
.5
2

1
2
.6
6

1
2
.8
2

1
3
.0
7

12.93

1
3
.0
2

1
3
.0
8

1
3
.2
0

1
3
.3
2

1
3
.3
1

1
3
.2
0

1
3
.0
4

1
3
.2
3

1
3
.4
4

1
3
.7
4

1
3
.7
7

1
3
.1
0

13.29

11.53

10.47

11.18

9.47

9.65

9.87
10.1510.4410.7110.9311.14

11.05
10.79

10
.72

10.57

10.25

10.05

1
1
.2
8

10.84

10.56

10.40

1
0
.9
5

1
1
.0
9

8.38
8.85

9.78

1
2
.5
4

1
2
.7
1

1
3
.0
0

1
2
.8
5

1
3
.1
2

1
2
.3
5

12.95 12.80

12.75
12.85

1
2
.7
5

1
2
.9
0

1
3
.0
8

13.10

1
3
.0
4

1
2
.8
6

12.97

9
.0
39.009.05

8.92
8.91

9.51

9.10

11.64

11.53

11.3611.75

11.731
0
.1
8

1
1
.0
5

1
0
.6
3

1
0
.2
5

1
0
.0
3

9
.8
7

9
.7
6

9
.6
8

9
.7
4

9
.8
7

9
.9
8

1
0
.2
6

1
0
.8
6

1
0
.8
9

1
0
.0
9

1
0
.1
7

1
0
.3
9

1
0
.5
5

1
0
.6
3

1
0
.7
6

1
0
.8
6

1
1
.0
3

1
1
.1
8

1
2
.6
2

1
2
.0
4

1
2
.0
1

1
2
.5
3

11.43

1
1
.3
1

1
1
.4
6

1
1
.6
4

1
1
.7
21
1
.8
6

1
2
.2
5

1
2
.4
0

1
2
.6
2

1
2
.7
7

1
2
.9
5

1
3
.0
9

1
2
.7
1

1
2
.7
8

1
2
.7
8

1
3
.3
1

1
2
.8
5

1
2
.7
4

1
1
.6
5

1
3
.0
6

1
3
.9
4

1
3
.9
7

1
3
.5
4

1
3
.4
3

1
2
.8
0

1
2
.6
2

1
2
.5
8

1
2
.4
5

1
2
.1
8

1
2
.1
8

1
2
.0
2

1
1
.9
7

1
1
.7
3

1
1
.5
8

1
1
.5
1

1
1
.8
3

1
1
.9
1

1
1
.2
7

1
1
.5
7

1
0
.7
6

1
1
.0
3

1
1
.3
7

1
0
.7
7

1
1
.1
5

1
0
.6
6

1
0
.9
5

1
0
.1
0

1
0
.0
9

9
.9
9

9
.7
4

9
.5
0

1
2
.6
6

9
.2
7

1
0
.4
6

8
.9
3

1
2
.8
9

1
2
.4
7

1
2
.4
5

10.9211.02

11.03

11.2211.38
11.79

12.0412.15
12.25

12.8012.81

11.59 11.46

8.93 8.96

8.90

8
.9
5

8
.9
3

9
.1
9

8.97

9.11

8
.9
5

9
. 1
3

8
.7
7

9.0
5

9.5
9

10.39

8.39

9
.0
3

8.97

8.92
8.95

9.18

9.89

10.04

9
.9
9

10.05

10.23

1
0
.2
2

1
0
.2
0

9
.9
6

10.01

10.06

1
0
.1
2

1
0
.4
6

9.92

9.87

9.86

10.01

10.75

10.06

9.62

10.11

9.91

10.39

1
0
.9
4

10.84

11
.1011

.76

9.74

B
S

1
0
.3
3

1
0
.3
7

1
0
.2
3

10.26

1
0
.7
8

1
0
.5
6

1
0
.3
4

10
.29

1
0
.8
8

1
0
.7
6

1
0
.2
5

1
0
.4
7

1
0
.9
6

10.82

1
0
.7
9

1
0
.6
8

10.61

10.60 10.30

11.35
11.19 10.9311.2511.59

11.69

11.81

11.92

12.08

12.21

12.05
11.93 11.83

1
2
.6
1

12.67

12.34

1
2
.4
2

1
2
.5
9

1
2
.3
4

12.29

1
3
.0
2

1
2
.8
1

1
2
.6
3

12.49

12.47

12.34 12.20

12.23

11.9
0

11.74

11.65

11.56
11.39

11.44
11.66

11.79

11.93

1
2
.0
6

11.5411.71

11.81

12.00

12.10

1
2
.1
7

1
3
.0
2

1
2
.8
7

1
2
.7
5

1
2
.6
4

1
2
.8
3

12.73

1
2
.7
6

1
2
.7
5

12.49

12.42

12.57

12.66

1
2
.7
3

1
2
.7
7

12.83

1
3
.3
7

1
3
.0
4

1
2
.8
6

1
2
.8
3

12.9
7

1
2
.8
6

1
0
.8
4

1
2
. 4
8

1
2
.3
9 12.37

12.15
12.11 11.99 11.96 11.85 11.75 11.61 11.47 11.27 10.97 10.89 10.65 10.51 10.35 10.21

1
0
.1
1

1
0
.5
1

1
0
.6
3

1
0
.7
6

1
0
.2
0

1
0
.4
6

Frederick Street

London R
oad

Ha
wt

ho
rn

 R
oa

d

St. Michael's Road

W
est Street

La
bu

rn
um

 P
la

ce

St. M
ichael's R

oad

Ufton Lane

0 25 m

1:500

105

1:250@A1
1:500@A3

Do not scale from drawings
All dimensions are in mm unless otherwise stated
All dimensions to be verified on site before proceeding with the work
All fire related information indicated on this drawing to be verified by a specialist
Any discrepancies to be notified in writing to the Architect immediately
All boundaries indicative only and to be confirmed by others

Drawing No.: Revision:

Drawing Title:Project Name:

Client: Status: Project No:

The Leather Market 
11-13 Weston Street, 
London SE1 3ER

t: +44 (0)203 8765441
email: info@fusearchitects.co.uk
www.fusearchitects.co.uk

Checked:Drawn By:

Date:

Scale:

Key Plan: 

N

P122084-FA-002

Existing Site PlanCockleshell Walk, St. Michaels Road,
Sittingbourne ME10 1AU

22084

Planning DM DH

30/09/22

Swale Rainbow Homes

REV DATE NOTES INT
P1 22.05.23 Issued for Planning DM

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 Equality Impact Assessment 

An Equality    Impact Assessment (EIA) is a document that summarises how the council has had due regard 

to the public sector equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in decision-making.  

When to assess 

An EIA should be carried out when you are changing, removing or introducing a new service, policy or 

function.  The assessment should be proportionate; a major financial decision will need to be assessed more 

closely than a minor policy change. 

Public sector equality duty 

The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the council, when exercising public functions, to have due regard to 

the need to: 

1) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 

Equality Act 2010; 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it; 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who 

do not share it.   

These are known as the three aims of the general equality duty.  

Protected characteristics 

The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine protected characteristics that apply to the equality duty: 

• Age 

• Disability 

• Gender reassignment 

• Marriage and civil partnership* 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Ethnicity 

• Religion or belief 

• Sex 

• Sexual orientation 

*For marriage and civil partnership, only the first aim of the duty applies in relation to employment.  

We also ask you to consider other socially excluded groups, which could include people who are 

geographically isolated from services, with low literacy skills or living in poverty or low incomes, affected by 

rural deprivation or poor health. This may impact on aspirations, health or other areas of their life which are 

not protected by the Equality Act, but should be considered when delivering services. 

Due regard 

To ‘have due regard’ means that in making decisions and in its other day-to-day activities the council must 

consciously consider the need to do the things set out in the general equality duty: eliminate discrimination, 

advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  

How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on the circumstances and in particular on the relevance of the aims in 

the general equality duty to the decision or function in question. The greater the relevance and potential 

impact, the higher the regard required by the duty. The three aims of the duty may be more relevant to some 

functions than others; or they may be more relevant to some protected characteristics than others.  

 

Page 17



 
 

Collecting and using equality information 

The Equalities and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) states that ‘Having due regard to the aims of the 

general equality duty requires public authorities to have an adequate evidence base for their decision 

making’.  We need to make sure that we understand the potential impact of decisions on people with 

different protected characteristics.  This will help us to reduce or remove unhelpful impacts.  We need to 

consider this information before and as decisions are being made. 

There are a number of publications and websites that may be useful in understanding the profile of users of 

a service, or those who may be affected. 

• The Office for National Statistics Neighbourhoods website https://www.ons.gov.uk/  

• Kent County Council Facts and Figures about Kent http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-
council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent  

• Public health and social care data  
http://www.kpho.org.uk/search?mode=results&queries_exclude_query=no&queries_excludefromse
arch_query=yes&queries_keyword_query=Swale  

 
At this stage you may find that you need further information and will need to undertake engagement or 

consultation.  Identify the gaps in your knowledge and take steps to fill these.   

Case law principles 

A number of principles have been established by the courts in relation to the equality duty and due regard: 

• Decision-makers in public authorities must be aware of their duty to have ‘due regard’ to the equality duty 

• Due regard is fulfilled before and at the time a particular policy is under consideration as well as at the 

time a decision is taken. Due regard involves a conscious approach and state of mind.  

• A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by justifying a decision after it has been taken.  

• The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour and with an open mind in such a way that it 

influences the final decision.  

• The person completing the EIA should have knowledge and understanding of the service, policy, strategy, 

practice, plan. 

• The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty will always remain the responsibility of the public authority. 

• A public authority is responsible for ensuring that any contracted organisations which provide services on 

their behalf can comply with the duty, are required in contracts to comply with it, and do comply in practice. 

• The duty is a continuing one. It applies when a service, policy, strategy, practice or plan is developed or 

agreed, and when it is implemented or reviewed. 

• It is good practice for those exercising public functions to keep an accurate record showing that they have 

actually considered the general duty and pondered relevant questions. Proper record keeping 

encourages transparency and will discipline those carrying out the relevant function to undertake the duty 

conscientiously.  

• The general equality duty is not a duty to achieve a result, it is a duty to have due regard to the need 

achieve the aims of the duty. 

• A public authority will need to consider whether it has sufficient information to assess the effects of the 

policy, or the way a function is being carried out, on the aims set out in the general equality duty.  

• A public authority cannot avoid complying with the duty by claiming that it does not have enough 

resources to do so.  

Lead officer: Charlotte Hudson, Head of Housing and Communities  

Decision maker: Policy and Resources Committee 

People involved: Housing, Parking Services and Development Consultants 

Decision: 

• Policy, project, service, 
contract 

• Project – change of use of land from service car park to housing 
delivery site.  

Page 18

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en
https://www.ons.gov.uk/
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent
http://www.kpho.org.uk/search?mode=results&queries_exclude_query=no&queries_excludefromsearch_query=yes&queries_keyword_query=Swale
http://www.kpho.org.uk/search?mode=results&queries_exclude_query=no&queries_excludefromsearch_query=yes&queries_keyword_query=Swale


 
 

• Review, change, new, stop 

Date of decision: 
The date when the final decision 
is made. The EIA must be 
complete before this point and 
inform the final decision.  

Policy and Resources – 17th December 2025 

Summary of the decision: 

• Aims and objectives 

• Key actions 

• Expected outcomes 

• Who will be affected and 
how? 

• How many people will be 
affected? 

The report is seeking to appropriate the land at Cockleshell Walk to 
change its use from Carparking to a development site for affordable 
housing.  
Confirm that the Land (as defined in paragraph 1.1 below) is no 
longer required for those purposes for which it is held (surface level 
car park. 
Approve the appropriation of the Land for planning purposes to 
facilitate its development pursuant to section 122(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 
Approve the Council relying on powers under section 203 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 to override any third-party rights 
interfered with by development of the Land; 
 
The carpark is currently still operational and during April 24 to March 
25. Had 17.2k transactions, creating a revenue income of £68.5k.   
Although the transactions identify the number of unique visits, we do 
not hold the data on unique visitors these visitors will have facilities 
elsewhere to utilise all within a very short distance.  Either in the 
adjacent Spring Street Carpark or Forum and Multi-Story Carpark 
(MSCP) 

Information and research: 

• Outline the information and 
research that has informed 
the decision. 

• Include sources and key 
findings. 

• Include information on how 
the decision will affect people 
with different protected 
characteristics. 

• Car parking is being provided elsewhere, and additional provision 
has been made through the construction of the MSCP, in addition 
the adjacent Spring Street carpark that was originally designated 
for housing delivery is not being taken forward and will remain. 

• There will be a loss of 6 disabled spaces, but this was considered 
in the Sittingbourne Town Centre parking strategy and provision 
is in place in the MSCP (22 spaces) and additional disabled 
places were created within the Forum Carpark. All of the 
surrounding car parks have available capacity throughout the day 
and even if disabled spaces are full, blue badge holders can use 
any other space in the car park.  

• All homes will meet the Nationally Described Space Standards 
and will be fully M4(2) compliant, which make the homes 
accessible and adaptable. One ground floor unit will meet M4(3) 
standards, which makes the home adaptable and accessible to 
wheelchair users.  Therefore, providing a positive benefit to a 
limited number of disabled individuals.  

• Housing will be allocated through the Kent Home choice system 
and eligibility through the Housing Allocations Policy, which has 
been subject to a separate EIA. 

 

Consultation: 

• Has there been specific 
consultation on this decision? 

• What were the results of the 
consultation? 

• Did the consultation analysis 
reveal any difference in 
views across the protected 
characteristics? 

• Can any conclusions be 
drawn from the analysis on 
how the decision will affect 

• Site was previous identified for housing both by the Council’s 
Spirit of Sittingbourne regeneration scheme and through the 
Local Plan process.  Both processes have separate extensive 
consultation processes. 

• The current scheme has secured planning and statutory 
consultation has taken place as part of that process.  In addition, 
a public meeting was held, although concerns were raised around 
loss of car parking they were not explicitly linked to protected 
characteristics. 

 

Page 19



 
 

people with different 
protected characteristics? 

 

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty? 
Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s PSED Technical Guidance - 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance  

Aim Yes/No 

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation Y 

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

Y 

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

Y 

 

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics and assess 
the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics. 
When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the protected 
characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young people but low 
relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral impact on men.   

Characteristic 
 

Relevance to decision 
High/Medium/Low/None 

Impact of decision 
Positive/Negative/Neutral 

Age None Neutral 

Disability Medium Net Positive 

Gender reassignment None Neutral 

Marriage and civil partnership None Neutral 

Pregnancy and maternity None Neutral 

Ethnicity None Neutral 

Religion or belief None Neutral 

Sex None Neutral 

Sexual orientation None Neutral 

Other socially excluded groups1 Low income / Poverty  High Positive 

1 Other socially excluded groups could include those with literacy issues, people living in poverty or on low incomes or people who 
are geographically isolated from services, affected by rural deprivation or poor health. 

 

Timing 

• Having ‘due regard’ is a state of mind. It should be considered at the inception of any decision.  

• Due regard should be considered throughout the development of the decision. Notes should be taken 

on how due regard to the equality duty has been considered through research, meetings, project teams, 

committees and consultations. 

 

 

Conclusion: 

• Consider how due regard 
has been had to the equality 
duty, from start to finish. 

• There should be no unlawful 
discrimination arising from 
the decision. 

Advise on the overall equality 
implications that should be taken 
into account in the final decision, 
considering relevance and 
impact.   

Overall, the project of utilising the current surface carpark to develop 
51 affordable homes, provides a net positive impact on disabled 
individuals.  Despite the loss of 6 no of disabled parking spaces, they 
have been re-provided in alternative provision both at the MSCP and 
Forum car park.    The scheme will also provide adaptable and 
accessible homes.  The provision of affordable housing also supports 
those within our community who have a housing need and therefore 
on a low income. Impacts on other protected characteristics have not 
been identified as impacted by this decision. 

Page 20

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance


 
 

• The completion of the EIA is a way of effectively summarising the due regard shown to the equality duty 

throughout the development of the decision. The completed EIA must inform the final decision-making 

process. The decision-maker must be aware of the duty and the completed EIA. 

Full technical guidance on the public sector equality duty can be found at:  

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance  

Please send the EIA in draft to Janet Dart in the Comms and Policy Team (janetdart@swale.gov.uk) 

who will review it with colleagues and let you have any comments or suggested changes.   

This Equality Impact Assessment should form an appendix to any EMT/DMT, service committee or 

Council report relating to the decision, and a summary should be included in the ‘Equality and 

Diversity’ section of the standard committee report template under ‘Section 6 – Implications’.   

 

Page 21

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
mailto:janetdart@swale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 23

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Appropriation of Cockleshell Walk, Sittingbourne
	APP1  - Site Plan
	Sheets
	001 - Site Location Plan
	002 - Existing Site Plan
	100 - Proposed Site Plan
	101 - Proposed Ground Floor Site Plan
	105 - Block A - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	106 - Block A - Proposed 1st - 3rd Floor Plan
	107 - Block A - Proposed Fourth Floor Plan
	108 - Block A - Proposed Roof Plan
	109 - Block B - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	110 - Block B - Proposed 1st & 2nd Floor Plan
	111 - Block B - Proposed Third Floor Plan
	112 - Block B - Proposed Roof Plan
	113 - Block C - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	114 - Block C - Proposed 1st & 2nd Floor Plan
	115 - Block C - Proposed Third Floor Plan
	116 - Block C - Proposed Roof Plan
	200 - Block A - Proposed Sections A-A and B-B
	201 - Block B - Proposed Sections C-C & D-D
	202 - Block C - Proposed Sections E-E & F-F
	300 - Proposed Southeast and Southwest Context Elevations
	301 - Proposed Northeast and Northwest Context Elevations
	310 - Block A - Proposed Southeast & Northeast Elevations
	311 - Block A - Proposed Northwest & Southwest Elevations
	312 - Block B - Proposed Southeast & Northeast Elevations
	313 - Block B - Proposed Northwest & Southwest Elevations
	314 - Block C - Proposed Southeast & Northeast Elevations
	315 - Block C - Proposed Northwest & Southwest Elevations


	Appendix III Equality Impact Assessment template - Cockleshell Appropriation Decision

	6 Appendix II - Appropriation of Cockleshell Walk, Sittingbourne

